#### Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA CASE Number: DA 22-0054

Supreme Court Case Number: DA 22-0054

Shandor S. Badaruddin, Appellant,

-vs.-

The State of Montana & The Nineteenth Judicial District,

Appellees.

#### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Colin M. Stephens Stephens Brooke, P.C. 315 W. Pine Missoula, MT 59802 colin@stephensbrooke.com

Peter F. Lacny Datsopolous, MacDonald & Lind, PC201 W. Main Street, Suite 201 Missoula, MT 59802 placny@dmllaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

William Adam Duerk 283 W. Front, Ste. 203 Missoula, MT 59802 duerk@knightnicastro.com

#### I. Issue Statements

- 1. The district court erred in finding Badaruddin's conduct in representing a criminal defendant in a complex white collar case was vexatious and unreasonable and justified sanctioning Badaruddin.
- 2. Even if costs were properly imposed, the district court erred in including costs not authorized by statute in the sanctions order.

#### II. Statement of the Case

Shandor Badaruddin [Badaruddin] represented Kip Hartman in a 9-day criminal jury trial in Lincoln County in January and February of 2021. The trial ended when the district court declared a mistrial based on perceived time constraints over Badaruddin's objection. See Order Re: Mistrial, February 5, 2021 (Appendix B). The court subsequently found that Badaruddin strategically delayed the entire case and caused the mistrial. See Order and Opinion Re: Motion for Sanctions, January 25, 2022 (Appendix A). The court sanctioned Badaruddin and ordered him to pay the costs associated with the mistrial. (Id.)

Badaruddin filed a Writ challenging the sanctions with this Court on February 18, 2021. See OP 21-0076. Badaruddin argued the court erred in imposing sanctions without a hearing, without an opportunity to

be heard, and without specifying the authority for the sanction order. *Id.*This Court denied the Writ as premature on March 30, 2021. *Id.* 

On May 21, 2021, the court held a hearing on the sanctions issue. Later, the court issued a written order imposing sanctions in the total amount of \$51,923.61. (Appendix A). Badaruddin now appeals.

While this appeal progressed, Badaruddin continued to represent Hartman by seeking to uphold Hartman's constitutional rights. This included writs to both this Court and a writ to the United States District Court for the District of Montana. On August 12, 2022, Badaruddin and Hartman were successful when the federal court granted Hartman habeas relief and precluded the State from trying Hartman again based on the double jeopardy protections of the *Fifth Amendment*. *Hartman v*. *Knudsen*, 2022 WL 3346375, U.S. Dist. Mont., Cause No. CV 22-57-M-DLC, Order, Aug. 12, 2022 (Appendix C)<sup>1</sup>. The State has since appealed the decision of the United States District Court to the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.

<sup>1&</sup>quot;This Court may take judicial notice of other court proceedings, and we do so here." Stokes v. First Am. Title Co. of Mont., 2017 MT 275,  $\P$  8, 389 Mont. 245, 406 P.3d 439 (citing Mont. R. Evid. 202)

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### 1. Pre-trial proceedings in *State vs. Kip Hartman*.

The underlying case here is *State vs. Kip Hartman*, Montana Nineteenth Judicial District case number DC-19-75. Hartman was charged with nine felony counts related to securities and insurance fraud and elder abuse. Due to the pandemic and the need for social distancing precautions, the case was tried at the Libby Memorial Events Center.

The trial date was continued multiple times due to the pandemic. The court ultimately set a nine day trial to begin on January 26, 2021. See Second Amended Minute Entry (Doc. 243) at 1. The court provided that "counsel [would] be held to the allotted time indicated, with time divided equally between the parties." See Order Setting Jury Trial, June 3, 2020, (Doc. 170) at 1, ¶5. At a December 22, 2020, Pretrial Conference, Badaruddin indicated it was unlikely the trial would finish in nine days. Badaruddin cited to the State's extensive witness list and the defense's extensive exhibit list to support his concern. See Transcript of Pretrial Conferences, 6/1/20 and 12/22/20 (Doc. 245) at T. 15; See Also Second Amended Minute Entry (Doc. 243).

On, January 26, 2021, prior to jury selection, the court held a Final Pretrial Conference at which State again confirmed it would complete its case in four days. *See* Transcript of Final Pretrial Conference and Jury Sworn, 1/26/21 (Doc. 246) at 14. Badaruddin reiterated, based on a four day case-in-chief, that he would need "equal time." *Id.* T. 14:14-14:15.

The court expressed its desire to "let the attorneys [w]ork the case the way you're going to work the case" while staying true to the timeline. Final Pretrial Conf. Tr. (Doc. 246) at T. 27:4 – 27:16. Specifically, the court said, "If it looks like we begin to—you know, if we get to Thursday, Friday, and it begins to look like we're losing time, we may start earlier. We may shorten lunch. We may go a little bit later..." *Id.* at T. 14:24-15:3.

Badaruddin expressed concern with the nine-day time limit at multiple points. His worry stemmed from the fear that he would not have enough time to conduct the case in the manner required of him to adequately represent his client. *See, e.g., Id.* at T. 14-15 and T. 18-19; Trial Tr. 2/1/21, (Doc. 251) at T. 754-755; Trial Tr. 2/3/21 (Doc. 253) at T. 1511-1512.

#### 2. The trial in State vs. Kip Hartman.

Hartman's trial was complex and time consuming. The court acknowledged the trial was "complicated[,]", and recognized, during a State Expert witness whose evidence was "...complicated..." that "...it is important that the intricacies and nuances of this case be recognized." Opinion and Order on [Hartman]'s Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss, (Doc. 285) at 4; Trial Tr. 1/29/21, (Doc. 250) at T. 680:23-680:25.

The record and transcript contain no clear instruction or explanation as to (1) which activities were, or were not, counted (voir dire, openings, breaks, objection arguments, examinations, closings, etc.), (2) when counting began (start of day, start of examination), or (3) what method was employed in the calculations. The court only stated during the final pretrial conference that they would be "keeping a clock. I mean, I understand you want equal time position, [Mr. Badaruddin]. I'm cognizant of that, and I will be paying attention to that." Final Pretrial Conf. Tr. (Doc. 246) at T. 18:23-19:1.

In line with the confusing manner in which the court kept time, it informed Badaruddin for the first time on Day 2 of the trial that "[his] cross-examination [was] counting as [his] equal time." Trial Tr., 1/27/21

(Doc. 248) at T.164:15-164:18. The court failed to advise him at any point prior to trial and until the second day of trial that his time clock would be so affected. *See* Doc. 246.

By the end of day four, (Friday, January 29, 2021) the state had not rested. Trial Tr. (Doc. 250) at T. 748:8-748:10. Badaruddin again expressed timing concerns, "I'm not going to have enough time to put on my case. I don't think the State's going to wrap it up anytime soon, and I need the time." *Id.* at T. 747:11-747:13.

The court indicated it had been dividing the time allotted based on "days."... I will have a detailed calculation of exactly how every minute of this trial has been spent from voir dire forward. As I said, the time talking counts for your nine days for the . at T. 747:15-747:18.

The court did not specify before or up to this point in trial what "time talking" meant, other than telling Badaruddin on Day 2 that his cross-examination counted as his equal time. The court further stated to Badaruddin on day four: "... I know you've been keeping track of the time. You indicated to that earlier when I brought up the issue of cross-examinations and stuff. ... I'm paying attention to it too. I'm not in a

position to say what we're going to do with it. ... I'll be in a position to discuss it Monday morning. ..." *Id.* at T. 747:20-748:3.

The State continued to present its case-in-chief for two additional days—Monday, February 1, and Tuesday, February 2, 2021, ultimately resting at 4:57 p.m. on Day 6, (Tuesday, February 2, 2021).

After the State rested, Badaruddin made a motion for more time because "...my client's being denied his state and federal due process rights to present a defense. I can't do it in two days... I don't have enough time left in the week... I don't see how I can do it, consistent with [Hartman's] right to the effective assistance of counsel and due process and a fair trial." Trial Tr. 2/2/21 (Doc. 252) at T. 1276:11-1276:13; T. 1277:12-1277:16).

Consistent with his earlier assertions, Badaruddin estimated that he needed 3-4 days to put on his case and to ensure "...[Hartman's]'s due process rights to present his defense not suffer for the sake of the constraints we're under." *Id.* at T. 1278:4-1278:5; T. 1278:22-1278:24; T. 1280:12-1280:14.

The court took the Motion for more time under advisement and denied it on the morning of Day 7, (Wednesday, February 3, 2021). Trial Tr. 2/3/21 (Doc. 253) at T. 1286:16-1286:20. While ruling on the motion,

the court informed Badaruddin it had changed its time computation from one based on days to one based on hours on Day 5 of the trial. "... So I'm not going by days, haven't been going by days since Monday ..." *Id.* at T.1287:17-1287:23. Consequently, Badaruddin learned at the start of Day 7 that he had even less time to complete the presentation of his defense than originally anticipated both (1) prior to trial and (2) during, up to and including Day 7 of the trial.

Additionally, time spent on motions, arguments, and breaks, while they did not "count" against either party nevertheless resulted in a reduction in time for Badaruddin to present his defense. All the while, the rigid and inflexible nine-day limit crept closer and closer. *See Id.* at T. 1287:3-1287:8, T. 1287:17-1287:23, and Trial Tr. 2/4/21 (Doc. 254) at T. 1718:10-1718:14.

On Day 7 (Wednesday, February 3, 2021), the State requested to *Mirandize* a critical defense witness and Hartman's wife, Ginny Hartman, as she walked to the witness stand. The State had known well before trial that Mrs. Hartman would be called as a defense witness. This request resulted in an overnight delay and need for Mrs. Hartman to consult with counsel. Badaruddin complained outside the presence of the jury at

approximately 4:30 p.m. that the State's request was a ploy to cause delay and consume his limited time a request. He told the court "[the prosecution] could have told [him] about this two weeks ago or two hours ago and we could have sorted through it. And I'm the one that's suffering, or [Hartman's] the one that's suffering." Trial Tr. 2/3/21 (Doc. 253) at T. 1511:4-1511:7. The court indicated "... what we're doing here right now isn't taking off of your time. You understand that?" Badaruddin responded "I don't, but I am pleased to hear it. Thank you, Your Honor." *Id.* at T. 1512:9-1512:13.

The court also stated, at the end of Day 7, "I haven't counted hearings and, I mean objections while people are--- it just is what it is. But when we've had to come back here, [chambers] that's not part of the count," (*Id.* at T. 1512:16-1512:19), in direct contradiction to what the court said on Day 4, (*See* Trial Tr. 1/29/21 (Doc. 250) at T. 747:14-747:18 ("... the time talking counts for your nine days for the split ...")). The court also stated, "We've lost time on motions and we've lost time on a number of things ..." Trial Tr. 2/1/21 (Doc. 251) at T. 755:8-755:10.

Even the court was unable to discern how much time the parties had used or had remaining. On Day 8, (Thursday, February 4, 2021), in the

middle of Mrs. Hartman's direct examination, the court took a break and advised counsel the Badaruddin had 37 minutes and the State had 92 minutes. See Trial Tr. 2/4/21 (Doc. 254) at T. 1716:13-1716:14. Following the State's approximately 36 minute cross examination, and Badaruddin's 5 minute redirect, the court advised counsel of the time remaining, stating, "... the [Badaruddin] has 15 minutes, the State has 152." See Id. at T. 1774:6-1774:7).

Presuming the court's original calculation of 92 minutes for the State was accurate, after 36 minutes of cross, it should have had 56 minutes remaining. Instead, it had 152 minutes remaining. Gaining almost over 90 minutes. The court had to continue clarifying what time did and did not "count" even after the mistrial was declared. *See* Trial Tr. 2/5/21 (Doc. 255) at T. 1798:1-1798:8.

# 3. The district court declared a mistrial over Hartman's objection.

At the end of Day 8, (Thursday, February 4, 2021) the trial court informed Badaruddin that 15 minutes remained for the defense. *See* Trial Tr. 2/4/21 (Doc. 254) at T. 1773:10-1773:11; T. 1774:6-1774:7). Hartman wished to exercise his constitutional right to testify. However, his testimony was anticipated to last in excess of 15 minutes. Badaruddin

moved for approximately three (3) extra hours. See Id. at T. 1774:22-1780:16. The court considered Badaruddin's motion for more time overnight. See Id. at T. 1782:5-1782:13. No discussion or argument regarding a possible mistrial occurred.

On the morning of Day 9, (Friday, February 5, 2021), sometime prior to 8:31 a.m., without warning and without seeking Badaruddin's input, the court declared a mistrial with an entire trial day remaining on the clock. See Trial Tr. 2/5/21 (Doc. 255) at T. 1792:24-1792:25; T. 1787:25-1792:23. Even the court recognized the mistrial was unexpected. See Trial Tr. 2/5/21 (Doc. 255) at T. 1797:4-1797:6); T. 1800:21-1800:22.

The court's mistrial declaration was first based on scheduling issues: "I don't have any place to put it [the trial]..." "...we don't have time to get this done within the allotted period of time... I can't put it any place else." Trial Tr. 2/5/21 (Doc. 255) at T. 1790:5-1790:6; T. 1791:4-1791:7. See Also Doc. 285 at 4 ("...the Court did not have an additional two days within several weeks to work a continuation of this case into its schedule.").

The court also suggested that it believed Badaruddin had intentionally stalled the trial in order to gain a strategic advantage

(despite the fact that, in eight days of trial, the court never expressed concern that Badaruddin was wasting time, nor did it explain the objective counsel hoped to achieve by stalling.) "Now, for the record, and I said it yesterday, I don't think this was an accident. I think it was an intentional move, deliberate, strategic, and tactical, based on the conduct of Mr. Badaruddin." Trial Tr. 2/5/21 (Doc. 255) at T. 1790:13-1790:16.

Badaruddin, in the midst of the court's decision, offered several alternatives that negate the idea he had been deliberately extending the trial. *See Id.* at T. 1792:4-1792:7; T. 1793:7-1794:5; T. 1804:5-1804:14. He requested an opportunity to present his testimony in less than three hours and perhaps in as little as 90 minutes and, additionally, requested an opportunity to proceed with Day 9 to try to complete the trial with the day remaining. *See Id.* at T. 1792:4-1792:7; T. 1793:12-1793:14; T. 1804:5-1804:8.

Finishing out the last day of trial may have included Hartman choosing not to testify, testifying for 15 minutes, or testifying for more than 15 minutes. Badaruddin stated, "[w]hat if Mr. Hartman were to testify and it takes less time than anticipated? ... I can, not rush things along, but work with greater dispatch, as can [the prosecution]. I believe

that we might be able to get it done." *Id.* at T. 1804:9-1804:14. In any event, Badaruddin's suggested alternatives showed he was prepared to do whatever was needed to complete the trial in lieu of the mistrial. *See Id.* at T. 1793:7-1794:5.

## 4. The sanctions Writ and subsequent district court litigation.

On February 5, 2021, the district court issued a written order declaring the mistrial and ordering Badaruddin to pay costs and fees, finding that Badaruddin had tactically slow played the case, resulting in the mistrial. The written order largely tracked the court's findings at the hearing. (Appendix B).

Badaruddin filed a Writ with this Court asking that the sanctions order be vacated as the order was issued without a hearing and cited no authority for the imposition of costs. *See generally OP 21-0076*. This Court ordered the State and the district court to respond, but ultimately denied the Writ as premature. *Id.* The case then returned to the court.

The parties submitted further briefing to the district court on the question of sanctions. The district court held a sanctions hearing on May 21, 2021. On January 25, 2022, the district court issued a written order imposing sanctions in the total amount of \$51,923.61. This amount

includes \$27,000.00 in attorney fees for the State's special prosecutor, \$4,300.00 for the facility rental, \$3853.28 for the court reporter, and \$16,770.33 for witness fees, per diem, and lodging. (Appendix A).

#### IV. ARGUMENT SUMMARY

Imposing sanctions on criminal defense counsel should be a decision of last resort and done only in the face of egregious and objectively unreasonable and vexatious conduct. Such conduct is not present here. In fact, the opposite is true. Two different judges have examined the same record and the same conduct and come to opposite conclusions. Thus, while the court below found Badaruddin's conduct unreasonable and vexatious, the United States District Court found the same conduct to be the hallmark of effective advocacy and consistent with the *Sixth Amendment*. Sanctions on criminal counsel are not warranted under circumstances where the conduct is susceptible to two different subjective interpretations.

Additionally, imposing monetary sanctions on criminal defense counsel will have a chilling effect of advocacy and the performance of criminal counsel's effective representation of their clients. Finally, even if sanctions are appropriate, many of those imposed by the court below are not those expressly allowed by statute.

#### V. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a trial court's order granting or denying attorney fees and costs for an abuse of discretion. Somont Oil Co. v. A & G Drilling, Inc., 2006 MT 90, ¶25, 332 Mont. 56, 137 P.3d 536.

A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily without employment of conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice. *Guffin v. Plaisted-Harman*, 2010 MT 100, ¶20, 356 Mont. 218, 232 P.3d 888 (*Guffin II*). However, "a court's failure to exercise its discretion is, in itself, an abuse of discretion." *State v. Weaver* (1996), 276 Mont. 505, 509, 917 P.2d 437, 440.

A court's authority to impose costs is dictated by statute. See e.g., Cross Guns v. Eight Jud. Dist. Ct., 2017 MT 144, ¶14, 387 Mont. 525, 396 P.3d 133 (affirming the plain language of Mont. Code Ann. § 37-61-421 provides for the assessment of costs upon a finding of contempt made pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 3-1-511); State v. Duong, 2015 MT 70, ¶¶19, 23, 378 Mont. 345, 343 P.3d 1218 (holding that the imposition of

costs for an interpreter and of a court administrative fee lacked statutory authority and were illegal).

The existence of that authority, especially within the context of an award for attorneys' fees, is reviewed for correctness. City of Helena v. Svee, 2014 MT 311, ¶7, 377 Mont. 158, 339 P.3d 32.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The district court erred in imposing sanctions against Badaruddin because his conduct defending Hartman was not vexatious and was reasonable.

1. Badaruddin's trial conduct, including advocating for his client's right to testify, was not vexatious or unreasonable.

The court sanctioned Badaruddin under *Mont. Code Ann. § 37-61-421*, which allows costs against an attorney if counsel multiplies the proceedings unreasonably and vexatiously. (Appendix A). This court has interpreted and applied this statute many times in civil cases. However, *Mont. Code Ann. § 37-61-421* has never been applied to sanction a criminal defense lawyer for defending their client at trial. Badaruddin's defense of Hartman through trial and his insistence on Hartman's right to testify at trial cannot be reasonably characterized as vexatious or unreasonable on the record.

The court found that Badaruddin "knowingly" delayed the proceedings and intentionally did not leave enough time for Hartman to testify. *Id.* at 8. The court determined Badaruddin was "gaming the system for a tactical advantage" and his "intentional conduct that caused the mistrial is precisely the type of" conduct that justifies sanctions under § 37-61-421.

The trial record here does not show any intentional conduct to slowplay the trial for a tactical advantage. Badaruddin explained this to the court:

I feel as if—I was not stalling. I was trying to move as quickly as possible. Yes, there were occasions when I could have moved faster, but I was always mindful of the time, and I wasn't trying to stall. [Mr. Hartman is] trying to get a verdict. . . [T]here's no manifest necessity for a mistrial. Especially since we still have six hours to work with. I don't see why we couldn't try and make the best use of them, or make a use of them.

Trial Tr. 2/5/21 (Doc. 255) at T. 1803:9-24, 1804:5-8.

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