03/08/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

#### Case Number: DA 22-0054

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0054

SHANDOR S. BADARUDDIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA and the NINETEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, HONORABLE MATTHEW CUFFE, Presiding,

Appellees.

## ANSWERING BRIEF OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

On Appeal from the Montana Nineteenth Judicial District Court, Lincoln County, The Honorable Matthew J. Cuffe, Presiding

### APPEARANCES:

KIRSTEN K. MADSEN
Special Deputy Lincoln County Attorney
Commissioner of Securities & Insurance,
Office of the Montana State Auditor
840 Helena Avenue
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 444-4328

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

I.A. This trial occurred during a time when "nothing about the justice system was functioning normally." (Br., at 27.) The claimed risk of chilling criminal defense attorneys' legitimate advocacy in future cases is unpersuasive, while reversing the trial court and allowing that conduct to go unchecked weakens judges' ability to control their courtrooms. After nearly eleven months of pandemic-related disruption, the systemwide stress facing the Nineteenth Judicial District was unique. Badaruddin's intentional conduct to exploit these unprecedented circumstances was extraordinary and sanctionable. "To hold otherwise ... would render any order from any court, scheduling or otherwise, meaningless." (Appx. A, at 9.)

- The trial court's sanction was not imposed "because [Badaruddin's] delivery was unsophisticated," but rather, "because once the finish line was in sight, his seemingly unsophisticated delivery was revealed to be a tactical strategy to delay proceedings." (Appx. A, at 9.) On review, this Court gives deference to the first-hand assessment of the trial judge in imposing discretionary sanctions precisely because a cold review of the record many months later necessarily cannot fully capture events at trial. Judge Cuffe immediately began documenting the nuances, concerns, and events he had been observing as soon as revealed. This Badaruddin's gamesmanship was went beyond pettifoggery. The court's impressions of and conclusions about counsel's conduct establish that Badaruddin acted deliberately. Badaruddin's "intentional conduct that caused the mistrial is precisely the type of 'tactical' maneuvering that justifies" sanctions under §421. (Id..)
- I.C. The standard of review for the question of sanctions is not whether this Court agrees with the trial court, and even less whether a different judge, evaluating a separate legal question in a collateral review of the criminal case assessed Badaruddin's conduct differently. The question is whether Judge Cuffe—having sat, day in and day out for nine

days, personally observing everything going on his displaced trial space—acted arbitrarily, and he did not.

II.A. The statutory power to sanction vexatious attorney conduct in court proceedings is a form of punishment and nothing in §421 suggests it is limited to "costs" of a prevailing party, as that term is used and defined in other statutes.

II.B. In every instance, the trial court was within its discretion to include each component of its sanction under §421's allowance for imposition of excess "expenses," to the extent the amounts were not *also* within the allowance for "costs."

## **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHIN ITS DISCRETION TO SANCTION BADARUDDIN FOR "STRATEGIC, TACTICAL, CALCULATED, CONSISTENT, AND CONSIDERED" CONDUCT THAT VEXATIOUSLY AND UNREASONABLY DELAYED A CRIMINAL CASE<sup>4</sup>

[T]he Court finds that Mr. Badaruddin's admitted mismanagement of time ... was deliberate and intentional. It was done for tactical and strategic reasons, creating a conflict with the trial schedule and his client's Sixth Amendment rights.

(Appx. A, at 8-9.) Such egregious conduct abusing judicial process for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The undersigned appreciates the legal research and drafting assistance provided here by CSI Legal Intern Hailey Oestreicher.

tactical gain is what  $\S$  37-61-421, MCA (" $\S$ 421"), exists to guard against. In Re Estate of Bayers, 2001 MT 49,  $\P$ 12, 304 Mont. 296, 21 P.3d 3.

Judge Cuffe's findings were made after observing two weeks of Badaruddin's trial conduct, receiving robust briefing from all parties, hearing oral argument, and taking the foregoing under advisement for nearly a year before issuing an order imposing sanctions. The lower court's considered, supported decision is the hallmark of the "employment of conscientious judgment" for which discretionary sanctions decisions should be affirmed. *Higgins ex rel. E.A. v. Augustine*, 2022 MT 25, ¶7, 407 Mont. 308, 503 P.3d 1118 (citing *Larchick*, ¶39).

## A. The Circumstances Of This Case Were Extraordinary and Defense Counsel Went Beyond Vigorous-But-Legitimate Advocacy

Upholding the court's sanctions imposed under the unique circumstances of this criminal trial does not threaten zealous advocacy by criminal defense counsel system-wide; rather, it illustrates the extraordinary context in which Badaruddin's considered failure to preserve his client's Sixth Amendment rights took place.

Punishing an individual for obstructing the judicial process is a well-established power of the courts. While attorneys must zealously

advance their clients' interests, trial court judges retain broad discretion in scheduling and managing trials. See Quercia v. United States, 289 U.S. 466, 469 (1933) (reasoning that judge is not merely a moderator, "but is the governor of the trial for the purpose of assuring its proper conduct"). In Ex parte Robinson, 86 U.S. 505, 510 (1873), the Supreme Court stated: "[t]he power to punish for contempts is inherent in all courts; its existence is essential to the preservation of order in judicial proceedings, and to the enforcement of the judgments, orders, and writs of the courts, and consequently to the due administration of justice." The Court recognizes defense counsel's "overarching duty to advocate the defendant's case," but limits that duty to "legitimate, lawful conduct compatible with the very nature of trial...." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984); Nix v. Whiteside, 457 U.S. 157 (1986). That the Montana criminal defense bar has yet to trigger sanctions under §421 by engaging in conduct so egregious and deliberate as witnessed by Judge Cuffe reflects the minor risk of chilling zealous advocacy by upholding these sanctions.

Here, defense counsel's deliberate actions, including stalling and withholding disclosure of his client's desire to testify until only minutes

remained in a two-week trial,<sup>5</sup> were not compatible with the nature of a trial in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. The sanctions imposed on Badaruddin are appropriate and should be upheld.

As cannot be ignored, "nothing about the justice system was functioning normally" during the pandemic. (Br., at 27.) Trials had been suspended for nearly two months in 2020, backing up the judicial branch system-wide, and although trials resumed in June 2020, they were conducted under considerable and appropriate safety mandates. (R. 221, at 3-4; see also supra at 6 (II.A).) The Hartman case was originally set for a four-day trial, then seven days and, ultimately, to nine days after several meetings with counsel. (Appx. A, at 1; R. 221, at ¶¶2-3, 18.) The court's calendar following the Hartman trial was packed with cases presenting equally, if not more important constitutional considerations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Badaruddin points to an obvious mistake in the time calculation announced at the end of testimony on Day 8. (Br., at 9-10 (citing TT-VIII-1774:6-7).) But see and compare id., at 1773:7-18 (referring to the "fifteen minutes left for the day") with id., at 1774:5-15 (moments later, incorrectly stating "Defendant has 15 minutes"). Before the misstatement could be addressed, however, Badaruddin launched immediately into his argument for additional time for Hartman's testimony. (TT-VIII-1774:22-25.)

such as incarcerated defendants and dependent neglect matters. (Appx. A, at 4); *Hartman VI*, at \*11.

Due to the logjam in the judicial system caused by COVID-19, time was of the essence in concluding Hartman's trial. Cuffe, as the "governor of the trial," was clear that trial would be completed within the agreed-to nine days. *Quercia*, 289 U.S. at 469; (e.g., R. 245, at 16:2-3; R. 246, at 14:4-15; TT-IV-747:6-9). Badaruddin acknowledged the unique nature of this trial and the importance of being mindful of time while conducting cross-examination and his case-in-chief. (*E.g.*, TT-II-164:9-21.) However, the court found Badaruddin's litigation strategy was anything but expeditious. With "[e]very witness" Badaruddin engaged in some version of delay "that elongated their testimony[,]" and his efforts at delay "became even more noticeable" when starting his case-in-chief. (*See e.g.*, Appx. A, at 2, 3; *infra*, at I.B.)

Badaruddin was familiar with his client and had ample opportunity to ascertain whether Hartman wanted to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to testify at trial. (*E.g.*, TT-VIII-1781:11-1782:4.) Yet, Badaruddin waited until only minutes remained in his allotted time to mention his client's desire to testify. (*Id.*, at 1774:5-25.) Badaruddin's own litigation

tactics placed the court in a catch-22 situation for which the only solutions—declaring a mistrial or up-ending the court's already crowded calendar during a pandemic—were mutually conflicting.

A similar scenario presented itself in U.S. v. Elliot, 463 F.3d 858 (9th Cir. 2006). There, the trial court discovered the defendant's attorney had a conflict of interest with a key defense witness. Id., at 861. The defendant refused to waive the conflict. Id. The court then declared a mistrial, to which the defendant objected. Id. The Ninth Circuit upheld the trial court's decision, noting the defendant was attempting to "have it both ways." Id., at 867. The court of appeals stated: "[w]e should be aware of the trial court's prospects of being 'whip-sawed' by assertions of error no matter which way it rules." Id., at 868 (quoting Thomas v. Municipal Court of Antelope Valley Judicial Dist. of California, 878 F.2d 285, 290 (9th Cir. 1989)). The Court concluded there was manifest necessity for the mistrial where a breakdown in the representation occurred after jeopardy had attached. *Id.*, at 867 (citing cases).

Faced with an analogous manifest necessity question in Hartman's case, this Court recognized it was "ironic, to say the least" that the trial court's actions to protect Hartman's constitutional rights and *not* commit

reversible error would somehow mean he could not be retried: "Hartman is not entitled to such a windfall." *Hartman VI*, at \*10; (*accord* TT-IX-1792:4-20 (having ruled in reliance on Badaruddin's representations, now "you [Badaruddin] say Oh, wait, Judge, no, I'll do it shorter. And then you file an appeal saying The judge made me shorten it because he threatened me with a mistrial"); TT-IX-1792:4-20; 1795:4-24 (similar concerns)).

Regardless of the resolution of that legal question in the criminal appeal, Judge Cuffe was facing the issue in real time as the breakdown between Badaruddin and Hartman became apparent during the final two days of trial, after jeopardy attached. (See also infra, I.B.) Badaruddin admitted knowing, for certain, that his client intended to take the stand on Day 7 (id., at 1781:21-1782:4), yet throughout Day 8 he took no action indicating he prioritized his client's constitutional right (see generally TT-VIII). Badaruddin characterized his strategy as ineffective assistance of counsel and cautioned numerous times that the failure to intervene and allow the defendant's testimony would result in reversal. (Appx. A, at 5-6; see also TT-VIII-1777:19-24.) The judge carefully considered this predicament, and concluded a mistrial was not only necessary and its

only option given the obvious procedural error stemming from Badaruddin's "deliberate attempt to stall this proceeding," but also that his "calculated maneuvers" warranted imposing a substantial sanction. (TT-IX-1790:23-1791:17; Appx. A, at 4-5; Appx. B, at 2-3; R. 285.) Badaruddin played the court's packed schedule and its "conscientious protection of the constitutional rights of all parties before it, including Hartman," *Hartman VI*, at \*11, against the judge. Badaruddin implemented a considered strategy that "create[d] a conflict with the trial court's schedule and his client's Sixth Amendment rights." (Appx. A, at 9.)

Then 11 months into pandemic delays and complications across its docket, the court was simply out of time for an unforeseen continuation requested on the penultimate day of a two-week trial. It was not merely rescheduling *this* case, it was delay to the entire docket, including at least three jury trials, two of them criminal—if the rented courtroom was even available. (Appx. A, at 4; TT-IX-1789:17-1790:4, 1799:10-23.) Badaruddin was "attempt[ing] to use [his] mismanagement to force the Court's hand[,]" and doing so in a way that "threatened to

disrupt the administration of justice *throughout* the Nineteenth Judicial District[.]" (Appx. A, at 8, 9 (emphasis added).)

An attorney's negligence or error should not deprive his client of his day in court and, when it does, it is proper to impose upon the attorney "personally, a penalty for his neglect." Moran v. Rynar, 39 A.D.2d 718, 719 (N.Y. App. Div. 1972). Badaruddin's conduct, however, went far beyond negligence and he was appropriately sanctioned after the trial judge observed him engage in "strategic, tactical, calculated, consistent and considered conduct" resulting in his client's inability to testify, a right he weaponized against the judge's control of his docket and the rights of other criminal defendants awaiting precious court time. (Appx. A, at 5; Appx. B, at 3; R. 285.) Engaging in conduct that necessitates a retrial or attempting to cause a mistrial is a long-recognized basis for imposition of hefty sections pursuant to §421. Kuhnke v. Fisher, 227 Mont. 62, 740 P.2d 625, 628-29 (1987) (denying a third trial, but "in no way condoning or ignoring [attorney's] courtroom antics," and remanding to consider increasing \$20,000 sanction). Reversing the sanction here risks further gamesmanship specifically in criminal cases and weakens judges' ability to control their courtrooms. (See e.g., Appx. A, at 9.)

The court's declaration of a mistrial was necessitated not only by factors traditionally considered in criminal law,6 but by the extraordinary circumstances of the mistrial being situated within a pandemic. Ordinarily, a judge may have more flexibility within their schedule; a trial court may not face the logistical challenges faced here. The Hartman trial was far from ordinary, and constraints placed on the court were unavoidable and well-understood. Badaruddin turned these circumstances to maximum advantage, "throw[ing] in [the court's] face" the constitutional rights defense counsel is supposed to be safeguarding during a time when adherence to the schedule was of the utmost importance to facilitate speedy trials and ensure public safety. (TT-IX-1795:4-24.) Therefore, upholding the court's sanctions imposed under the exceptional circumstances presented during this criminal trial does not pose a threat to the functioning of other defendants' Sixth Amendment rights. Rather, it affirms the authority of trial courts to control their courtrooms in the face of vexatious and unreasonable conduct by attorneys, whether civil or criminal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See e.g., State v. Newrobe, 2021 MT 105, ¶11, 404 Mont. 135, 485 P.3d 1240; Elliot, 463 F.3d at 867; Illinois v. Somerville, 410 U.S. 458, 464 (1973).

## B. Badaruddin Was Sanctioned For His Strategic, Considered Conduct To Intentionally Delay Trial, Not For His Advocacy Of His Client's Right To Testify

The trial court employed its conscientious judgement in sanctioning Badaruddin personally for engaging in a deliberate, tactical strategy to delay criminal proceedings before it and its order should be affirmed.

Since 1985, §421 has provided a statutory mechanism for courts to personally sanction an attorney to any court proceeding for vexatiously and unreasonably prolonging the proceedings. It exists "to provide redress against persons who abuse the judicial process for their convenience, tactical reasons, personal gain, or the satisfaction of vengeful motives." *Bayers*, ¶12 (citing legislative history). This Court has affirmed §421 sanctions for conduct ranging from causing a second mistrial, *Kuhnke*, 740 P.2d at 627-28, 629, to "playing games' and 'pushing [opposing counsel's] buttons[,]" *Bayers*, ¶16.

While Judge Cuffe's order against Badaruddin appears to be the first application of §421 in a criminal case, the statute plainly states it applies to "any court proceeding[.]" (Emphasis added.) The federal corollary, 28 U.S.C. § 1927, has long been used for redress against criminal defense counsel. *Bayers*, ¶12 (Montana's §421 modeled on

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